. -- "' 

FILED 

S.Ct.No. C\D'2~\ --2> 
Ct. App., Div. III, No. 315193 

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

SEP 1 8 2014 
COURT OF 1\~PP./\LS 

DIVISION Ill 
STATIO OF WASHINGTON 
By-----

D. ANGUS LEE, Grant County Prosecuting Attorney, by and through the 
Office of the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney, 

Respondent, 

vs. 

JERRY JASMAN, a single person, and CRAIG MORRISON, 

Petitioners. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 

George M. Ahrend 
AHREND ALBRECHT PLLC 

16 Basin St. SW 
Ephrata, W A 98823 

(509) 764-9000 

Attorneys for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Jerry Jasman and Craig Morrison ask the Court to accept review of 

the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of 

this petition. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mssrs. Jasman and Morrison seek review of the published Court of 

Appeals decision, filed August 19,2014. A copy ofthe decision, including 

the dissent, is reproduced in the Appendix at A-1 to A-27. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1.) How should the constitutional and statutory provisions regarding 
removal of public officers be interpreted? In particular, is a deputy coroner 
or investigator with authority to sign death certificates an officer within 
the meaning of these provisions, even though he or she (a) is not elected, 
(b) is not required to take an oath of office or (c) post an official bond, 
(d) does not have a term of office, but serves at the will of the elected 
county coroner, and (e) does not have statutorily defined duties but 
performs tasks delegated by the elected county coroner? 

2.) Is the appointment of a special prosecutor required to defend this quo 
warranto action filed by a county prosecutor, which interferes with the 
county coroner's ability to select deputies and employees and delegate 
tasks to them? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A.) The elected Grant County Coroner, Craig Morrison, hires Jerry 
Jasman as deputy coroner and investigator, and assigns him the task 
of signing death certificates. 

Jerry Jasman is the former elected Grant County Coroner. CP 141. 

While in office, he entered an Alford plea to a misdemeanor for disorderly 



conduct. I d. 1 As part of the plea, he acknowledged forfeiture of his right to 

hold public office as provided in RCW 9.92.120, and, with the 

understanding that public office meant elected office, he stepped down 

from his position. Jd. 

Craig Morrison was subsequently elected to fill the vacancy 

created by Jasman's resignation. CP 142, 155. On November 22, 2010, 

Morrison hired Jasman to serve as deputy coroner and investigator 

because his experience, training and ability made him the most qualified 

person in the area to perform the job. CP 155. Neither Morrison nor 

Jasman believed that the positions of deputy coroner or investigator were 

public offices, and Jasman obtained an opinion from counsel who 

represented him in the criminal proceeding, shared with Morrison and the 

Grant County Commissioners, confirming that his misdemeanor 

conviction did not preclude him from serving. CP 142, 156, 165. 

When hired, Jasman took an oath of office, although he now 

understands it was not necessary to do so. CP 142, 156. Jasman did not 

post an official bond. CP 142. He serves at the will of, and performs tasks 

1 Under a plea pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), the accused 
maintains his or her innocence. See Clark v. Baines, 150 Wn. 2d 905, 907 n.1 & 916, 84 
P.3d 245 (2004). As it pertains to this case, "[a] person is guilty of disorderly conduct if 
the person ... [u]ses abusive language and thereby intentionally creates a risk of 
assault[.]" RCW 9A.84.030(1 )(a) (brackets & ellipses added). 

2 



assigned by, Morrison. CP 142, 156; see also CP 79-80 (deputy job 

description); CP 82-84 (investigator job description). 

One of the tasks performed by the coroner's office is completion 

and certification (i.e., signing) of death certificates. RCW 70.58.170-.180. 

Death certificates are normally signed by a health care provider, but, when 

a death occurs without a health care provider in attendance, or when it 

results from unnatural causes, then the certificate must be signed by a 

local health officer, coroner or medical examiner, or prosecuting attorney. 

Id. Death certificates must be signed within 72 hours after death occurs. 

CP 143 & 156. 

Coroner Morrison and Jasman are the only two people working in 

the Grant County Coroner's Office. CP 79, 82, 143 & 156. If Coroner 

Morrison is away on official or personal business, it creates a hardship if 

Jasman cannot sign death certificates. In addition, given the number of 

deaths in Grant County, it is not possible for Coroner Morrison to fully 

investigate each death personally. CP 156. He relies on Jasman to 

investigate deaths, and believes it is important for the person who 

performed the investigation and has personal knowledge of the facts to 

sign the certificate. CP 156. The Washington State Department of Health 

has always accepted the death certificates signed by Jasman, and there is 
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no evidence in the record that such death certificates have been rejected by 

any agency or tribunal. CP 143, 156.2 

B.) Jasman is never accused of violating his probation, but 
approximately 19 months after Coroner Morrison hires him, Grant 
County Prosecutor Angus Lee files this quo warranto action, alleging 
that he is not eligible to serve as a deputy coroner or sign death 
certificates. 

On June 27, 2012, Prosecutor Lee filed this quo warranto action 

against Jasman. CP 4-9, 157. He did not allege that Jasman violated the 

terms of his Alford plea in the underlying criminal proceeding. From the 

perspective of Coroner Morrison, the action "is politically motivated and 

shows evidence of the longstanding harassment" his office has received 

from Lee since his election. CP 163. 

The quo warranto complaint alleges that Jasman "has unlawfully 

exercised the public office of coroner or deputy coroner[.]" CP 4. 

Specifically, it identifies the signing of death certificates as the allegedly 

unlawful exercise of public office. CP 7. The complaint seeks declaratory 

judgment and injunctive relief prohibiting Jasman "from performing the 

duties of the Grant County Coroner or of a deputy coroner, including the 

completion and/or signing of death certificates[.]" CP 8. 

2 Although the Court of Appeals majority appears to have concerns about the validity of 
death certificates signed by Jasman, that concern begs the question of whether he is 
authorized to sign them. 
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C.) Jasman resigns from his position as deputy coroner (but not 
investigator), and Coroner Morrison instructs him not to sign death 
certificates pending the outcome of this quo warranto action. 

After being served with the quo warranto information, Jasman 

resigned from his position as deputy coroner, although he remains in the 

position of investigator. CP 143, 157 & 160. Coroner Morrison accepted 

the resignation and instructed Jasman not to sign death certificates pending 

resolution of his authority to do so. CP 143, 162. They notified Prosecutor 

Lee of these actions and Jasman has not signed any death certificates, 

notwithstanding the resulting hardship for the coroner's office. CP 143, 

157-58 & 163. 

D.) The superior court grants Coroner Morrison's motion to 
intervene and aligns him with Jasman. 

Coroner Morrison moved to intervene in the quo warranto action, 

on grounds that it interferes with his authority to hire deputies and 

employees, as well as his authority to assign tasks to them. CP 196-97, 

199-202, 204-06, 211-12. The superior court granted the motion and 

aligned Coroner Morrison with Jasman. CP 290-91. 

E.) Prosecutor Lee interferes with the defense of this action, resulting 
in his disqualification by the superior court. 

In the meantime, Coroner Morrison submitted a request to the 

county commissioners for funds to defend and indemnify Jasman in the 

quo warranto action, because he was following instructions and acting in 
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good faith within the scope of his employment. CP 144, 15 8 & 163. The 

commissioners initially approved the request. CP 144, 158 & 165. 

However, they subsequently reversed their decision "[b ]ased on legal 

advice from the Prosecuting Attorney's office[.]" CP 164. 

Prosecutor Lee's simultaneous prosecution of this action and his 

advice to the commissioners regarding the defense of the action created a 

conflict of interest, resulting in the disqualification of himself and the 

members of his office as counsel. CP 348-50. The court based its 

disqualification order in part on the fact that Coroner Morrison is the real 

party in interest in this action. CP 349-50, 354? 

F.) Coroner Morrison and Jasman seek appointment of a special 
prosecutor to represent the interests of the coroner's office. 

Independently from the request to the county commissioners, 

Coroner Morrison and Jasman sought the appointment of a special 

prosecutor pursuant to RCW 36.27 .030, on grounds that the quo warranto 

action impinges upon the right and responsibility of Morrison, as an 

elected county officer, to manage his office. CP 196, 201-02. However, 

the superior court deferred ruling on the motion pending a decision on the 

merits of the quo warranto action. CP 294. 

3 Although he initially appealed the disqualification order, Prosecutor Lee has abandoned 
his appeal. See Lee v. Jasman, 2014 WL 4086304, at *5 (Wn. App., Div. III, Aug. 19, 
2014). 
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G.) The superior court grants the injunctive relief requested by 
Prosecutor Lee and declines to appoint a special prosecutor, and the 
Court of Appeals affirms over dissent. 

On cross motions for summary judgment, the superior court 

enjoined Jasman from signing death certificates and denied the request for 

appointment of a special prosecutor. CP 292-94. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed over dissent. See Lee, 2014 WL 4086304, at *1 (Fearing, J.); id. 

at *25 (Siddoway, C.J., dissenting). Coroner Morrison and Jasman seek 

review. 

V. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW 

A.) Overview of county officers, and the distinctions between such 
officers and their deputies and employees. 

County offices are established by the legislature pursuant to 

authority granted by the state constitution. See Wash. Const. Art. XI, § 5. 

The legislature has sole authority to "provide for the election of' county 

officers, "prescribe their duties," "fix their terms of office," "regulate 

the[ir] compensation" and "provide for the[ir] strict accountability[.]" See 

id. (brackets added). In accordance with this constitutional provision, the 

legislature has provided for the election of county officers, see RCW 

36.16.010 & .030; prescribed their duties, see, e.g., Ch. 36.24 RCW 

(regarding county coroners); fixed their terms of office, see RCW 

36.16.020; regulated their compensation, see Ch. 36.17 RCW; and 
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imposed accountability for handling public funds, see, e.g., RCW 

36.16.050 (regarding official bonds) & 35.18.160-.170 (regarding 

penalties for taking illegal fees and failing to pay over fees). 

The legislature has also provided for the appointment of deputies 

and employees, which are distinguished from county officers in a number 

of important respects: 

1.) Deputies and employees are appointed or employed by the 
elected county officer, with the consent of the board of county 
commissioners. See RCW 36.16.070. Deputies and employees are 
not themselves elected. See id. 

2.) Deputies and employees are not generally required to take an 
oath of office. RCW 36.16.040 limits the oath requirement to 
persons "elected to county office." RCW 36.16.060 appears to 
authorize, but not require, oaths of deputies, and the only oath that 
appears to be required is for deputy assessors. See RCW 36.21.0 11. 

3.) Deputies and employees are not generally required to post an 
official bond. RCW 36.16.040 limits the bond requirement to 
elected officials. Deputies and employees do not have to post a 
bond unless specifically required by the county commissioners. 
See RCW 36.16.070. Under normal circumstances, "[t]he officer 
appointing a deputy or other employee shall be responsible for the 
acts of his or her appointees upon his or her official bond[.]" !d. 
(brackets added). 

4.) Deputies and employees do not serve a term of office, but 
rather serve at the will of the appointing officer. RCW 36.16.070 
provides that "[t]he officer appointing a deputy or other employee 
... may revoke each appointment at pleasure." (Brackets & ellipses 
added). This incorporates the common law right of an employer to 
dismiss an employee at will. See Halliburton v. Huntington, 20 
Wn. App. 91, 98, 579 P.2d 379 (1978). 

8 



5.) The duties of deputies and employees are not specifically 
defined by statute. See RCW 36.16.070. Instead, they must 
perform the tasks assigned by the appointing officer. See id. 

The legislature's authorization for county officers to appoint 

deputies and employees is consistent with Wash. Const. Art. XI, § 5 only 

because deputies and employees are not themselves officers. See Nelson v. 

Troy, II Wash. 435, 44I-42, 39 P. 974 (I895). In Nelson, a taxpayer 

sought to enjoin payment of the salary of a deputy county clerk, appointed 

pursuant to the predecessor statute to RCW 36.I6.070, arguing that the 

statute violated Art. XI, § 5. See II Wash. at 436-38. The Court rejected 

this argument on grounds that "[a] deputy county clerk is not a county 

officer[,]" relying on the "common, ordinary, and accepted meaning" of 

the term "officer." See id. at 44I-42. The Court explained: 

"The 'officer' is distinguished from the employe in the greater 
importance, dignity, and independence of his position; in being 
required to take an official oath, and perhaps to give an official 
bond; in the liability to be called to account as a public offender for 
misfeasance or nonfeasance in office; and usually, though not 
necessarily, in the tenure of his position." 

Id. at 442 (quotation omitted).4 Because deputies are not officers, the 

limitations and requirements of Art. XI, § 5 are inapplicable. See id. at 

4 Accord State ex rei. Mcintosh v. Hutchinson, 187 Wash. 61, 63, 59 P.2d 1117 (1937) 
(citing Nelson for the proposition that "[a]n employee or a deputy is not an officer"; 
brackets added); State v. Korba, 66 Wn. App. 666, 669, 832 P.2d 1346 (1992) (citing 
Nelson for the proposition that "[u]nder the common law, neither a deputy nor an 
employee is a public officer"; brackets added). 
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441-43.5 With the foregoing understanding of the distinction between 

county officers and their deputies and employees, it is now possible to 

address the Court of Appeals majority opinion below. 

B.) In determining that a deputy county coroner is a public officer 
holding public office, the Court of Appeals majority opinion conflicts 
with decisions of this Court, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b )(1 ). 

Just as the authority to create county offices is conferred upon the 

legislature by the state constitution, the authority to remove officers is also 

conferred upon the legislature by the state constitution. See Wash. Canst. 

Art. V, § 3 (providing "[a]ll officers not liable to impeachment shall be 

subject to removal for misconduct or malfeasance in office, in such 

manner as may be provided by law"; brackets added). The legislature has 

implemented this constitutional provision in part by enacting RCW 

9.92.120. See State ex rei. Zempel v. Twitchell, 59 Wn. 2d 419, 422 & 

430-31, 367 P .2d 985 (1962); see also State ex rei. Knabb v. Frater, 198 

Wash. 675, 678, 89 P .2d 1046 (1939) (involving former Rem. Rev. Stat. 

§ 2289). RCW 9.92.120 provides: 

The conviction of a public officer of any felony or malfeasance in 
office shall entail, in addition to such other penalty as may be 

5 See also State ex rei. Scofield v. Easterday, 182 Wash. 209, 214-15, 46 P.2d 1052 
( 1935) (rejecting argument that county engineer's authority to appoint assistant 
improperly gave him the power to create an office in violation of Art. XI, § 5); County 
Commissioners-Authority to Create a New County Office--Veterans Relief Fund, 
Wash. Att'y Gen. Op. 1957-58, No. 83 (June 13, 1957), available at 1957 WL 53974 
(discussing constitutional authority to create county office). 
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imposed, the forfeiture of his or her office, and shall disqualify him 
or her from ever afterward holding any public office in this state. 

This provision may be enforced by means of a quo warranto action. See 

RCW 7.56.010(1) (stating "[a]n information may be filed .... [w]hen any 

person shall usurp, intrude upon, or unlawfully hold or exercise any public 

office"; brackets & ellipses added). In determining that Jasman's position 

as deputy coroner and/or investigator with authority to sign death 

certificates is a public office within the meaning of these provisions, the 

reasoning of the Court of Appeals majority opinion conflicts with a 

number of different decisions of this Court, justifying review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

1.) The majority opinion conflicts with this Court's decision in 
Nelson v. Troy, holding that the common meaning of public 
office/officer does not include deputies or employees. 

The Court of Appeals majority acknowledges that "RCW 9.92.120 

does not define the terms 'public office' or 'public officer."' Lee, at *8. In 

Nelson, the Court held that these terms should be given their "common, 

ordinary, and accepted meaning," in accordance with normal rules of 

statutory interpretation. 11 Wash. at 441. The common law meaning of 

public office/officer excludes deputies and employees of county officers. 

See id. at 441-42. The Court of Appeals majority attempts to distinguish 

Nelson on grounds that the issue presented in that case was narrow, see 
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Lee, at * 1 0, but the majority ignores the fact that this Court was merely 

applying the rule that words in a statute must be given their common law 

or ordinary meaning in the absence of a specific statutory definition, see, 

e.g., AllianceOne Receivables Mgmt., Inc. v. Lewis, 180 Wn. 2d 389, 395, 

325 P.3d 904 (2014) (stating rule). 

2.) The majority opinion conflicts with this Court's decision in 
State ex rei. Mcintosh v. Hutchinson, affirming Nelson and 
adopting a 5-part test to elaborate upon the definition of public 
office/officer. 

The Court of Appeals majority seems to indicate that public office 

and officer under RCW 9.92.120 should be defined in accordance with 

this Court's decision in Mcintosh, 187 Wash. at 63-64. See Lee at * 12 

(stating "[w]e assume that the term 'civil office' used in Mcintosh holds 

the same meaning as the term 'public office' in RCW 9.92.120"). In 

Mcintosh, the Court addressed whether a state senator vacated his seat by 

accepting a position with the federal government, based on the 

constitutional prohibitions against holding more than one office in Wash. 

Const. Art. II, §§ 13-14. See 187 Wash. at 62-63. The Court cited Nelson 

with approval for the proposition that "[a]n employee or a deputy is not an 

officer," and noted "the distinction between an officer and an employee." 

!d. at 63. The Court emphasized that Nelson "is in harmony with what we 

shall here say," and adopted a 5-part test from the Montana Supreme 
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Court to add precision to the distinction between public office and 

employment. See id. at 63-64. A deputy or employee does not satisfy this 

test for public office/officer, as is evident from the Court's approving 

references to Nelson. Ultimately, however, the Court of Appeals majority 

below declined to follow Mcintosh, and while the majority recited the 

duties of a coroner at length in its opinion, it never applied the 5-part test 

to determine whether a deputy coroner or employee with authority to sign 

death certificates holds public office. See Lee, at * 19.6 

3.) In attempting to distinguish Nelson and Mcintosh on 
grounds that they were civil cases, the majority opinion 
conflicts with this Court's decision in State ex ref. Zempel v. 
Twitchell, regarding the civil nature of RCW 9.92.120 and quo 
warranto proceedings to enforce the statute. 

The Court of Appeals majority attempts to distinguish Nelson and 

Mcintosh on the following grounds: 

The rule in Nelson declaring that a deputy is not a county officer 
and the Montana five-element test of what constitutes a "public 
office" [adopted in Mcintosh] is of limited importance to us since 
the pending action is not a civil contest. Although a quo warranto 
action is not a criminal prosecution, the action against Jerry 
Jasman addresses the consequences of his criminal conviction.

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