RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 13, 2014, 10:36 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED B

### S. Ct. No. 90827-3

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

D. ANGUS LEE, Grant County Prosecuting Attorney, by and through the Office of the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney,

Respondent,

V.

JERRY JASMAN, a single person,

Petitioner,

and

CRAIG MORRISON, Intervener,

Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

AND

#### CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 206 10th Avenue S.E. Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 753-2175

2

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

perform any act which the elected coroner may perform, with the elected coroner responsible for the actions of the deputy. *Id.* 

#### 1. Signing Death Certificates

A prosecutor is authorized to file a quo warranto action against any person who "unlawfully hold[s] or exercise[s] any public office ... within the state." RCW 7.56.010(1); RCW 7.56.020. In this case, Prosecutor Lee alleged that Jasman was unlawfully "exercising" a public office by signing death certificates as a "Chief Investigator." Resolution of this claim did not require resolution of whether Jasman was holding public office or was serving as a public officer.

By statute, the only individuals who may complete a death certificate in Washington are chiropractic practitioners<sup>8</sup>,"the physician, physician's assistant, or advanced registered nurse practitioner last in attendance upon the deceased,"<sup>9</sup> "the health officer, medical examiner, coroner, or prosecuting attorney having jurisdiction,"<sup>10</sup> or "the physician, physician's assistant, advanced registered nurse practitioner, midwife, or other person in attendance at the fetal death."<sup>11</sup> A deputy coroner or a deputy prosecuting attorney may also sign a death certificate. *See generally* RCW 36.27.040; RCW 36.16.070.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>RCW 18.25.080. <sup>9</sup>RCW 70.58.170.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Id.; RCW 70.58.180.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Id.

No statute, however, allows any other employee of a coroner's office to sign a death certificate.<sup>12</sup> See generally RCW 36.16.070.<sup>13</sup>

### 2. Serving as a Deputy Coroner

Ignoring Jasman's use of the title "Chief Investigator" on all four death certificates and Intervener Morrison's July 19, 2011, statement that he "employed Jerry as my Chief Investigator. . . rather than deputizing him as an appointed official," CP 90, the petitioners contend that Jasman was actually serving as a deputy coroner when he signed the death certificates and that his conviction while in office does not bar him from holding that position. Jasman and Intervener Morrison's sole support for their claim that a "deputy" is not an "officer" is this Court's opinion in *Nelson v. Troy*, 11 Wash. 435, 39 P. 974 (1895). *See* Petition for Review at 9. *Nelson*, however, dealt with a constitutional provision and this Court specifically acknowledged that there may be other circumstances where the term "officer" would include a deputy. *Nelson*, 11 Wash. at 440-41. The *Nelson* Court, moreover, strove to define the word "officer" as used in the Constitution consistently with the common law circa 1895. *See Nelson*, 11 Wash, at 441-42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>If the office of coroner is vacant or the coroner cannot attend a death, the duties of the coroner's office may be performed by a district court judge. *See* RCW 36.24.160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>"Employees" and "deputies" are different positions. Only "[a] deputy may perform any act which his or her principal is authorized to perform." RCW 36.16.070. The county officer "appointing a deputy or other employee shall be responsible for the acts of his or her appointees upon his or her official bond and may revoke each appointment at pleasure." *Id.* 

The common law is not an immutable doctrine, frozen in time and unaffected by a state's statutory scheme. Senear v. Daily Journal-American, Div. of Longview Pub. Co., 97 Wn.2d 148, 152, 641 P.2d 1180 (1982); State v. Fire, 145 Wn.2d 152, 169, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001) (C.J., Alexander, concurring). The contemporary view is that deputies are public officers. See, e.g., Smith v. Board of Walla Walla County Commissioners, 48 Wn. App. 303, 309, 738 P.2d 1076 (1987) (relying upon dictionaries to conclude that a deputy exercises some or all of the functions of the office for the officer); 3 Eugene McQuillin, The Law of Municipal Corporations §12.33 at 234 (3d ed. 2001) ("And being legally authorized to act for and in place of the principal, the deputy is a public officer."). Even this common law view has limited applicability to the instant case. See generally RCW 4.04.01 (common law applies only so far as it is not inconsistent with our statutes); RCW 9A.04.060 (same).

The Court of Appeals recognized that it was dealing with a statute and that the meaning of the terms "public officer" and "public office" as used in RCW 9.92.120 requires a court to review the entire code. RCW 9.92.120 was initially enacted in 1909. *See* Laws of 1909, ch. 249, § 37. Section 51 of this same session law defined "public officer" as follows:

24. The words "officer" and "public officer" shall include all assistants, deputies, clerks and employees of any public officer and all persons exercising or assuming to exercise any of the powers or functions of a public officer.

Laws of 1909, ch. 249, § 51. This definition remained unchanged until 1975.

In 1975, the Legislature replaced the former criminal code. In Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 260, the Legislature simultaneously repealed Laws of 1909, ch. 249, § 51, and adopted an even broader definition for the words "officer" and "public officer." *See* Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 260, § 9A.04.110(13) , currently codified at RCW 9A.04.110(13);<sup>14</sup> and Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 260, § 9A.92.010(1).<sup>15</sup> This statutory definition of "officer" and "public officer" prevails over the common law definition contained in *Nelson* when dealing with crime or punishment. *See State v. Korba*, 66 Wn. App. 666, 670, 832 P.2d 1346 (1992); RCW 9A.04.090; RCW

(13) "Officer" and "public officer" means a person holding office under a city, county, or state government, or the federal government who performs a public function and in so doing is vested with the exercise of some sovereign power of government, and includes all assistants, deputies, clerks, and employees of any public officer and all persons lawfully exercising or assuming to exercise any of the powers or functions of a public officer;

<sup>15</sup>When the legislature replaced the former criminal code in 1975, it expanded upon this definition of public officer:

(13) "Officer" and "public officer" means a person holding office under a city, county, or state government, or the federal government who performs a public function and in so doing is vested with the exercise of some sovereign power of government, and includes all assistants, deputies, clerks, and employees of any public officer and all persons lawfully exercising or assuming to exercise any of the powers or functions of a public officer;

Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 260, § 9A.04.110(13), currently codified at RCW 9A.04.110(13).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 260, § 9A.04.110(13), currently codified at RCW 9A.04.110(13), provides that:

9A.04.060.

Jasman and Intervener Morrison claim that the application of RCW 9A.04.110(13) to RCW 9.92.120 is improper because RCW 9.92.120 does not define a crime.<sup>16</sup> Petition for Review, at 14. Jasman and Morrison may be technically correct, but the placement of RCW 9.92.120 in a chapter of the code that deals with punishment and the history of the adoption of RCW 9A.04.110(13) fully supports such reliance. Giving a broad definition to the term "officer" in RCW 9.92.120 is mandated, moreover, by RCW 1.16.065. RCW 1.16.065 provides that "Whenever any term indicating an officer is used it shall be construed, when required, to mean any person authorized by law to discharge the duties of such officer." The position of deputy coroner easily satisfies this definition. See RCW 36.16.070 ("A deputy may perform any act which his or her principal is authorized to perform."). Giving a broad definition to the term "officer" in RCW 9.92.120 is consistent with this Court's own precedent. See Lee, 2014 WL 4086304 at ¶ 36-37 (discussing Hoflin v. City of Ocean Shores, 121 Wn.2d 113, 847 P.2d 428 (1993)). Thus, there is no conflict to be addressed by this Court.

### 3. Appointment of a Special Prosecuting Attorney

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>The civil definition of officer that appears in the Code of Ethics for Municipal Officers, chapter 42.23 RCW, expressly includes "deputies and assistants." RCW 42.23.020. This ethics code and various other statutes seek to ensure that all officials perform their public responsibilities in accordance with the highest ethical and moral standards and to conduct people's business in a manner that advances the public's interest, rather than their own. *Hubbard v. Spokane County*, 146 Wn.2d 699, 712, 50 P.3d 602 (2002).

Public policy regarding the appointment of a special prosecuting attorney is made manifest through statutes. Those statutes only permit the appointment of a special prosecuting attorney when the elected prosecuting attorney or one of his or her deputies or special deputies is unavailable to perform the duties specified in RCW 36.27.020. *See generally State v. Heaton*, 21 Wash. 59, 61-62, 56 P. 843 (1899) (the court may only appoint a special prosecutor as authorized by statute).<sup>17</sup>

[A] court can appoint a special prosecutor to represent a party only when two conditions are met. First, the prosecutor must have the authority and the duty to represent that party in the given matter. Second, some disability must prevent the prosecutor from fulfilling the duty. If the prosecutor has no duty or authority to represent a party, the trial court cannot appoint special counsel.

Osborn v. Grant County, 130 Wn.2d 615, 624-25, 926 P.2d 911 (1996).

Accord RCW 36.27.030.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Prosecutor Lee had no duty to represent Jasman in the quo warranto action. In fact, Jasman and Coroner Morrison conceded in their brief that no statute explicitly requires the prosecutor to defend a county officer in a quo warranto action. *See* Brief of Appellant at 31. Jasman conceded at oral argument in Division

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>When another statute creates a mandatory duty in the prosecuting attorney, the failure of the prosecutor to act *can* create grounds for appointing a special prosecuting attorney. *See generally Nichols v. Snohomish County*, 109 Wn.2d 613, 619-20, 746 P.2d 1208 (1987) (attorney fees awarded pursuant to a statute, RCW 73.16.033, that required the prosecuting attorney of the county in which the employer is located to bring an action for compliance).

Two that no statute required the prosecutor to defend him in the quo warranto action. See note 7, supra. These concessions are consistent with RCW 7.56.130's prohibition upon the award of costs against a prosecuting attorney who brings a quo warrant action.

While the general statute that details the prosecuting attorney's duties, RCW 36.27.020, requires the prosecuting attorney to represent the county in civil proceedings, it does not demand that the prosecuting attorney represent an officer or deputy officer in litigation. *Hoppe v. King County*, 95 Wn.2d 332, 339, 622 P.2d 845 (1980); *Bates v. School Dist.*, 45 Wash. 498, 502-03, 88 P. 944 (1907) (the requirement to provide legal advice contained in the predecessor statute to RCW 36.27.020(3)<sup>18</sup> does not include a requirement to defend a civil action brought in response to actions taken upon the given advice).<sup>19</sup> The only exception is when the officer is being sued for money

Bates, 45 Wash. at 502.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Bal. Code, § 468 (P.C. § 4190) provided that:

<sup>&</sup>quot;The prosecuting attorney in each county is hereby required to give legal advice, when required, to all county and precinct officers, and directors and superintendents of common schools, in all matters relating to their official business, and when so required, he shall draw up, in writing, all contracts, obligations, and like instruments of an official nature, for the use of said officers."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>The legislature has the ability to write a statute that requires a government attorney to represent a government official in a lawsuit, regardless of the government attorney's legal judgment. *See Goldmark v. McKenna*, 172 Wn.2d 568, 259 P.3d 1095 (2011) (RCW 43.12.075 expressly requires the state attorney general to represent the commissioner of public lands in an appeal);RCW 43.12.075 ("It shall be the duty of the attorney general, to institute, or defend, any action or proceeding to which the state, or the commissioner or the board, is or may be a party, or in

damages which the county government is responsible for paying. See RCW 4.96.041(1). No damages are possible in a quo warranto action brought by the prosecuting attorney, see RCW 7.56.040, and Prosecutor Lee's complaint contained no request for damages. See CP 1-39. Finally, a quo warranto action is against the person named as the respondent-not against the office or the county. See RCW 7.56.010(1) ("when the person shall usurp, intrude upon, or unlawfully hold or exercise any public office"); 17 Eugene McQuillin, The Law of Municipal Corporations § 50.15, at 680 (3rd ed. 2004) ("The subject matter of the controversy is the right to the office for the term in controversy and the proceeding personal to the parties claiming the office. Therefore, the writ is never directed to the officer as such, but always to the person to determine whether he or she has the legal right to perform the duties and exercise the functions of the office.").

Intervener Morrison stands in the same shoes as the appellant in *Hoppe*. Intervener Morrison received legal advise from Prosecutor Lee as required by RCW 36.27.020(2) regarding Jasman's legal disability prior to Prosecutor Lee filing the quo warranto action. *Lee*, 2014 WL 4086304 at ¶ 92; CP 41, 91. Morrison disagreed with Prosecutor Lee's advise and so intervened in the quo warranto action in order to seek a declaratory judgment

which the interests of the state are involved, in any court of this state, or any other state, or of the United States, or in any department of the United States, or before any board or tribunal, when requested so to do by the commissioner, or the board, or upon the attorney general's own initiative."). The mandatory language found in RCW 43.12.075 does not appear in RCW 36.27.020.

pursuant to RCW 7.24.010 and .050, that Jasman may serve as a deputy coroner and that a chief investigator may sign death certificates. CP 115, ¶ 14.2. In *Hoppe*, this Court held that an officer's disagreement with the prosecuting attorney's advise does not entitle the officer to the appointment of a special prosecutor. If Morrison, like Hoppe, wishes "to second-guess the judgment of the prosecuting attorney" he must do it at his own expense. 95 Wn.2d 340. The denial of Intervener Morrison's demand that the tax payers fund his quixotic efforts to enable Jasman to perform duties for which he is statutorily unqualified to do, is consistent with both prior case law and public policy. *Accord Colby v. Yakima County*, 133 Wn. App. 386, 136 P.3d 131 (2006) (both an action to defend the right to hold office and an action to defend a charge of official misconduct fall outside the scope of RCW 4.96.041).

### B. Review of Prosecutor Lee's Cross-Petition is Warranted Under RAP 13.4

Following oral argument, Intervener Morrison and Jasman filed a motion to dismiss the entire action. The motion was based upon documents from outside the appellate record. Prosecutor Lee requested actual attorney fees for responding to this untimely motion which, contrary to the petitioners' representation, did not establish a lack of either trial court or appellate court jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals denied the request finding that the judicial estoppel claim was not totally frivolous. *Lee*, 2014 WL 4086304 at ¶ 105.

17

The Court of Appeals' consideration of the judicial estoppel claim prior to resolving whether the claim was properly before it pursuant to RAP 2.5(a)(1) conflicts with this Court's precedent and presents an issue of substantial public interest.

One of the most fundamental principles of appellate litigation is that a party may not assert on appeal a claim that was not presented at trial. *Yakus v. United States*, 321 U.S. 414, 444, 64 S. Ct. 660, 88 L. Ed. 834 (1944); *State v. Davis*, 41 Wn.2d 535, 250 P.2d 548 (1953). The Rules of Appellate Procedure recognizes three exceptions to this rule, only one of which was asserted by Jasman and Morrison.

RAP 2.5(a)(1) allows a challenge to the trial court jurisdiction to be raised for the first time on appeal. Such a challenge, however, must be supported by the record on appeal. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (RAP 2.5(a)(3) claim can only be heard if the facts necessary to resolve the matter appear in the appellate court record); *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993) (same).

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